
MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE. IDAHO"

HELD AT THE LIBRARY COMMUNITY ROOM

June 18. 2024

The Mayor and Council of the City olCoeur d'Alene met in a regular session of said Council at
the coeur d' Alene City Libra4, community Room on June 18, 2024. at 5:00 p.m.. there being
present the tbllouing members:

James Hammond, Mayor

Woodl'McEvers
Christie Wood
Dan Gookin
Dan English
Aml Evans
Kiki Miller

) Members ol Council Present
)

)

)

)

)

CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Hammond called the meeting to order and noted that the first item
in the agenda is a discussion on rhe budget concerns fbr fiscal lear 2024-2025.

FlscAL YEAR 24-25 BUDGET DISCUSSION: councilmember wood opened the budget
discussion stating that priority ol the budget shoutd focus on public saflety, hence the need tcr
support the Police and Fire Department on their equipment requirements. Councilmember Gookin
mentioned that given the recent cyberattack. his prioriq' is the increase ol compensation ibr IT
employees to a competitive level and the creation ofa stand-alone IT Departmeni. He stated that
his third priority is the need to reach out to school districts, CDA Tribe, and other agencies to bui16
a relationship of uorking together. Mayor Hammond shared that there have been three different
meetings regarding racial harassment in the community nhich can be a point of discussion 11ith
other agencies and together u-ork on a campaign about "i.l ho w-e are and what ue are as a
community." Councilmember Evans agreed that it is important to define who we are as a
con:munity. She stated that it is important to reach out w,ith other partners such as the Tribe to talk
about priorities and projects to rvork on together. Councilmember Wood mentioned that she uas
asked to attend a meeting of citv leaders from Post Falls. Hal'den. Rathdrum. and Coeur d'Alene
regarding civility and what we have in common. She suggested that the Councilmembers can take
tums in attending this meeting. councilmember English stated that the creation of a
communication position can be tied rvith filling up the proposed in-house position lor media
serlices since Jetf Crorve uill not reneu his contract. Councilmember McEvers explained that
although he agrees w'ith the idea of having a communication position, creating a stand-alone IT
Department and increasing the pav. his concem on the budget is more fbcused on sustainabilitv
such as where to get the tunding. Councilmember Wbod said that she r,"ould like to see IT as a
stand-alone depanment tr ith an Administrator. Additionally'. her priorities include discussion ol
employee bargaining contracts and proiection on impaci to t-he budget: discussion on the hiring ol'
a part time grant administrator to research and apply lor public safetv grants or offer incentives ttr
those employ.ees rvho do this rvork un their da1, off: and a discussion on the lO-r.ear plan lor



sustainable budget. Mayor Hammond noted that Katie Ebner, the new Finance Director. sent him
information trom a meeting of the Executive group t-rom the Chamber which illustrated the
challenges that the City is lacing right now. He explained that the Cit), is collecting 250% revenue
of u'hat the Citl'n'as collecting eight years ago for neu,grow"th. He said that it dropped b1' about
75% u'hile at the same time the assessed value has gro*-n b1' 125%. Mayor Hammond explained
that he asked councilmembers Gookin and McEvers to reviell'and take a broader look at the
budget on the status and u'here the citl r,r'ill come up short and considering legislative cutbacks.
Councilmember Wood suggested that the agenda for the tlrst meeting with other cities and the
countv in earll fall should be the impact of legislation on the ciries.

Councilmember Miller stated that she agrees rvith having a communicarions position and
suggested adding grant research or r.r'riting contractor instead of having existing staff doing the
rvork. She pointed out that granr writing uith IT witl be difficult bur grant nriting ir ith
comnrunications rvill go hand in hand. She also suggested identill ing areas of shorttirll in the
budget that can be ttozen or cut b) reviewing events. programs, contracts fbr leases and projects.
potential technologl' savings. and revenue streams. Lastlv. she suggested not a<iding staff this lear
except fbr the conmunications position. Councilmember Gookin inquired if there are currently
lunded but unfilled positions. and Mr. Tymesen stated that the Assistant to the Recreation Director
is on hold and last year. the unfilled positions w'ere IT and fiont desk positions. Councilmember
wood revier.ved the previous budget objectives and pointed out that despite each department
having their strategic plans. there is no overall masterplan that all the strategic plans t-eed into that
the Council can budget in a l0-year plan. Mayor Hammond explained that the l0-year plan is
mainly fiom a revenue point of view although it is difficult to predict legislative actions or cit1,
growth, he said that he is concerned with meeting current obligations. In terms olpublic safety. he
mentioned that crime statistics have been going dow'n substantially and there are less flre incidents"
which shows that the investment is paying offin making the city a safer community. He said that
he is concemed about the city having the financial resources to be able to meet its goals. He added
that the Council should look at revenue sources rather than the loss offunds and develop a strateg\
w'orking rvith other entities and legislative representatives.

Councilmember Wood asked Mr. T1'mesen ilthere are proposals coming fonr,ard to use the tund
balance. and Mr. Tlmesen explained that the preliminary budget has no exact amount lbr the
medical rener.r'al although there is i% in the plan. and there's over $2 Million coming fiom fund
balance in order to fund the operations that uill go directll-into proj ects such as the PD building.
He added that about halfofthe General Fund is ofconcem from cashflou fiom savings account
to fund operations and no increase built in as ofthe moment to the budget for the negotiations u'ith
Fire Department. councilmember wood inquired if there are proposals for neu' positions. u.ith
Mr. Tl mesen responding that police hale positions that are paid from grants but there is a requesl
for an IT position. and there is a request tbr an administratir e assistant position in Parks
Department. Councilmember Miller asked if grant funded positions become regular full-time r.rhen
the grant expires. with Mr. Tl mesen explaining that they can be absorbed and there is an exit
strategv looking ahead on the probabilitl to have the cashflou, to support the position due to
possible retirements. He stated that the communications position will be addressed with the non-
renewal of the contract ol Jetr Croue. In terms of public safetl, as a priority, Mr. Tymesesn
expressed that there are f'unds allocated for this. He shared that he is looking at filling up the City
Accountant position which will be vacated on .luly I and the Administrative Assistant position in

Council Minutes .lune I 8. 2024 Page 2



the Parks Department. Mr. Tymesen stated that it will be good if these concems are in sync rvith
the Council. He also asked the Council about their priorities. Councilmember McEvers pointed
out that the Citl used to have its ou'n maintenance stafl but nou.there are contractors so it u,ould
be good to look at if the City has been saving monel'. Malor Hammond asked the Council to think
about what the city' is fbr. and what it can do as opposed to $-hat it cannot do. councilmember
Miller stated that ma)'be next vear. there is a need to tighten the helt on uhat the Citl can provide.
She stated that lour olthe Council are interested in tilling up the Communications position. there
is also inlerest in grants revieu fbr better use ofeither u'riting or combining efforts torard grants.
start of the 5-vear plan for IT. and the conduct of meetings q'ith other entities to establish stronger
relationships. Councilmember Wood stated that the 5-1ear plan for IT does not sho\\ the cost. She
also agreed to check on uhere the funds uill be coming tiom. Councilmember Miller said that
there is a plan in motion alreadl fbr IT but needs a better presentation on what that plan is. Ma1'or
Hammond clarifled that Municipal Sen'ices Director Renata McLeod alreadJ- provided the Council
uith a memo regarding the costs and obligations.

RECESS: Mayor Hammond called fbr a recess at 5:46 p.m. The meeting resumed at 6:00 p.m

INVOCATION: Leslie Watson of the North ldaho Unitarian Universalists led the Invocation.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCFI,: Councilmember Evans led the pledge of allegiance.

PUBLIC COMMENTS:

Paul Trouette. Hayden. expressed his objections to the proposed amendments to the Ordinance
regarding security agent licenses. ln Section 4. he stated that having the word "security'" on their
vehicles so that they are distinguished is sufhcient. He asked to have another discussion on Section
5 and stated that securitl agents should be able to act due ro extenuating circumstances or erigent
circumstances. Mr. Trouette mentioned that Section 6 is a bit of an overreach requiring added
administrative work and would entail expenses lrom them.

John Swallow, Coeur d'Alene. asked the Council to strongly consider Resolution 24-049 or the
temporary moratorium on demolition. He stated that while he is a big supporter of private propert.r-
rights. he is deeply concemed about the loss ofhistory and identity ofCoeur d'Alene so har ing a
I 80-day. moratorium is line.

James Cooke. Coeur d'Alene. thanked the Council for the ordinance on loud engines and said that
thel have alread) noticed the difltrence. He stated his strong opposition to the proposed pedal pub
sal ing that having a non-supenised tavem on u'heels riding through the neighborhood would not
fit rith the Citl's vision stalement.

Scott Wagonseller. Hayden. noted that the proposed amendments to the ordinance regarding
securitl'agent licenses restricts residents and businesses the right to protect themselr,es and their
property without prior norice. revie$'. and approval of the Citr, police. He said that this is
authoritarian overreach and there \ras no communitv input and stakeholder involr,ement because
this was only presented by the Chief ol Police with only four days of notice. He added that this
ordinance is only aimed at increasing the regulatory pouers of the Chief ol Police and does not
solve anv problem nor improve public saf'ety-

Council Minutes June 18. 2024 Page 3



Griffen Dietrich. coeur d'Alene. urged the Council not to pass the proposed amendments to the
Ordinance regarding security agent licenses because it does not benefit the public or the securiq'
industry. He explained that the only purpose is to diminish the ability of security agencies ro
effectively operate at their clients' requests. He pointed out that Section.t which mandates the
appearance ofsecurity uniforms and vehicles is not only a violation of freedom of expression but
also prohibits the right olclients to choose how their security provider appears. Further. he stated
that Section 5 violates Idaho Statute on citizens arrest rights. In relation to Section 6, he explained
that the police have no right or need to be informed about private contracts made between private
entities.

Shannon Sardell. Coeur d'Alene" asked the Council to support the temporary moratorium on
demolition and moving permits because this is a communiq- generated request and historic
preservation matters to the people in Coeur d'Alene. She requested the Council seek additional
public comment and further review of the proposed amendments to the ordinance on billboards
and electronic message displays. She explained that lrom a historic preservation perspective. the
amendments will have great effect on historic context and character ol historic places as well the
natural billboards such as the lakes. trees. and prairie.

Jeff Connaway, Coeur d'Alene. requested the Council to reject or at least table the proposed
amendments to the ordinance on billboards and electronic message displays to allow more time
lbr exploring what the people in general would \\,ant to see happen in the cit]. He asked the
Council to investigate the possibility of requiring sunset leases for existing billboards in a
reasonable amount of time.

Neal Schreibeis, Coeur d'Alene. noted that lr'hile they fully understand and agree that there should
be regulations in place fbr billboards. he pointed out that the proposed amendments has
overcomplicated the permitting process such as wh1,' the City Council would need to review each
application for relocation. He stated that the proposed ordinance to have all the 14x48 signs located
within a blook ofI-90 would keep them clumped together and not spread out. He added that the
review ofleases for the relocations is cumbersome to the billboard companies and extra work for
the City Attomey. He also pointed out that the 500-foot setback requirement from residential.
school. park. church. historic district. and cemetery is an additional area restriction which is in
addition to the zoning restrictions.

Johnny Liston, Hayden. requested Council to reconsider Section 2C pertaining to relocation of
billboards and other off-premises signs particularly sections F to I. He asked that those sections be
stricken from the record.

Walter Bums. Coeur d'AIene. spoke in support of the resolution on demolition moratorium rvhich
will provide the time needed for the Historic Presen'ation commission to complete their
initiatives. He stated that the-v are n'orking to revise the Ci['s demolition permit process to be
more responsive to the needs of the community. Mr. Bums stated that they are working nith the
Planning Department. other cit)' commissions. and ll'ith the council, to revieu and update the
donntow-n core and downtor.l.n North and East overlays.

Council Minutes .lune 18. 2024. Page .1



Deb Mitchell. Coeur d'Alene. asked the Council to pass Resolution 24-049 regarding the
temporar)' moratorium on demolition. She quoted I Corinthians 6: I 2 verse fiom the Bible which
sa)'s that "all things are lawful. but not everything is beneficial." She also shared what Dr. William
Murtagh said that "preservation engages the past in a conversation with the present over a mutual
concem for the future."

ANNOUNCEMENTS: Councilmen,ber Evans announced that today is Mayor Hammond's
birthday and wished him well. Councilmember Wood encouraged the people ro visit the Atlas
Water Park and support the vendors that are lhere such the ice cream truck. burger shack. and a
coffee truck.

CONSENT CALENDAR:
I . Approval of Council Minutes lor the June 4, 2024 Council Meeting.
2. Approval of Minutes from the June 10, 2024 General Services/Public Works Committee

Meeting.
3. Approval of Bills as Submitted
4. Approval of Financial Report

MOTION: Motion by McEvers. seconded by Evans to approve the Consent Calendar as
presented.

ROLLCALL: GookinA1e: English,A1e: \!bod Ave: Evans A1,e: MillerA1'e: McEvers,A1e
\Iotion ca rried.

RESOLUT-tON NO. l4-0.17

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE. KOOTENAI COUNTY. IDAHO.
AUTHORIZING A LETTER OF AGREEMENT WITH CARNET ADVENTURES. LI-C- FOR
THE COMMERCIAL USE OF THE CITY STREETS FOR RECREATIONAL TRANSIT.

STAFF R-EPORT: Deput)'City Clerk Kellel- Setters noted thar the Citl received a request fiom
Mr. Gary Cooper d/b/a Gamet Adventures LLC to operate a non-motorized vehicle within Cit1.
limits through a Letter of Agreement. She stated that the tours r'".ill have a maximum seating
capacity of l,l operating from Thursdal to Sunday'starting on June 19.2024 through October 31.
2024 from 1l:00 am to l0:00 pm lasring approximatel), 2.5 hours. She added that all tours will
begin and end at the Tour CDA business located at l6l8 E Lakeside Avenue (near Sherman and
lTth Street) starting at ll:00 a.m. where the stops fbr the scenic tour fbr all ages include the
Roosevelt lnn. Fort Sherman, and Carousel w.ith no alcohol to be sen'ed on this trip. Ms. Setters
explained that two other daily tours for 3:00 p.m. and 7:00 p.m. will be fbr guests who are 21 years
and older and are allowed to bring their own sealed beer or wine fbr consumption while onboard
the bike. She mentioned that the stops include: The Coat on 4th Street. -l l5 Cuisine on Wallace
Avenue. and Seasons Restaurant on 3'd Street. Ms. Setters pointed out that each City Department
w-as contacted to see il there were any concerns or requests fbr conditions. with the Police

Council Minutes .lune 18. 2024 Page 5



Department noting they had no issues. She recalled that in the past. other recreational
transportation uses, such as Socialll Geared cy'cle Pub and horse-drawn carriages uere in
operation and had been widelv accepted and have not impeded traffic.

DISCTISSION: Councilmember Evans recalled that there nas a similar business in the past. hut
the route u'as diflerent. uith Ms. Setters explaining that the former route uas Ionger going dor.rn
into Lakeshore Drive. Councilmember Miller asked if there are anl regulations about the music
and sound to address noise complaints from the neighborhood. Councilmember English stated
that it reminds him ofthe ice cream trucks that plal s three to four stanzas of music over and or.er:
houever. he pointed out that there u'ould be an emplovee and it ilould not be unsupen ised. Cit).
Attome) Randv Adams said that the Cin'has an ordinance that regulates music being plal,ed on a
vehicle uhich includes annol-ing to a person of reasonable sensitivities. Councilmember Gookin
stated that he got a consensus fiom his neighbors in Fort Grounds. and thev suggested that it i.rould
be better if the route uill go down Hubbard and then tum on Lakeshore Drile to Park Driye and
not cut through the neighborhood. He said that he would like to see that change in the route.
Councilmemher Wood requested tbr clarification w,hy.the pedal pub is coming forw,ard to the
Council when there is already an ordinance. with Ms. Setters replying that the ordinance stipulates
that the pedal pub application must come belore the Council for decision. Councilmember Wood
shared that sheiust came back tiom New Orleans where they took horse drawn carriage rides, and
she would like to encourage the people to have the same fun since Coeur d'Alene is a touristy
town: however, she stressed that there should be a balance in having fun and not ruining the
neighbors'day. Councilmember McEvers asked about the evening tour w.here the guests will be
bringing their own beer and there's a tendencv that they will be drinking in the establishmenrs and
hecome tipsy. with Mr. Cooper explaining that the guests can initially bring their own beverage as
Iong the beverage is beer. wine. or seltzer. but they cannot leave the pedat pub with any alcoholic
beverage nor they can bring any fiom an establishment. He added that the guests will be signing a
waiver that tells them they cannot be intoxicated. Also. Mr. Cooper explained that it would be a
liabilitf issue ifthel are highly' intoxicated. and they are expected to be able to pedal because the
pedal pub is a human powered vehicle. In terms olmusic. Mr. Cooper said that the) envision their
guests to have a playlist of their own such as fbr bridal showers. Councilmember Gookin inquired
on the impact as far as dorvnto$n noise. and Mr. Cooper stated that the pedal pub is not stalionary.
but uill be passing along and thel'uould certainll comply r,ith the music ordinance and uould
not \\'ant to anno\ the neighborhood. He further stated that the focus of their business is to the
histon olthe communitl'that is nhl the)' r'ant to go over at Fort Sherman to visit the historical
buildings. Councilmember Cookin asked Mr. Cooper if he uould be amenable to nol cut through
the neighborhood. and Mr. Cooper stated that he is agreeable to a route change.

MOTION: Motion b1 Gookin. seconded br' 'v\bod. to approve Resolution No. 2{-0{7 - Appror.al
of a letter ol agreement with Garnet Adventures I-LC lor Commercial Use of the Cin Streets lor
Recreational Transit as amended bv Council.

ROLL CALL: English A1e: Wood A_ve: Evans Aye: Miller Aye: McEvers Aye: Gookin Aye.
Motion carried.

Council Minutes .lune I8. 2024. Page 6



A RESOLUTTON OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO.
AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASE OF A RAMVAC HXI2 TRUCK MOTINTED HYDRO-
EXCAVATOR FROM SOLID WASTE SYSTEMS EQUIPMENI LLC. THROUGI{ THE
SOURCEWELL COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM. iN THE AMOL]NT OF
$616.963.33.

STAFF REPORT: Assistant Director Glen Poelstra noted that each )iear. the Water Deparlment is
presented with the task of maintaining the City"s aging infiastructure and" each year. it becomes
more diflicult to excavate with the number of utilities being installed in the ground. He recalled
that in 2016, the Water Department acquired the Wasteu'ater Depafiment's Vaccon sewer jet truck
and made modiflcations to tum it into a hydro-excar, ation truck for the Water Department. He
stated that this truck u,as a great addition to the fleet as it uses high pressure water and an 8''
vacuum suction tube to soft excavate around complicated utility excavations where a backhoe or
excavator could not be used. Mr. Poelstra explained that hydro excavation is basically using high
pressure u'ater and a large vacuum svstem to be able to soti dig around utilities and remove
material from the ground. He enumerated the benefits of soft digging *,hich allons their cren to
limit their time in the ditch" safb exposure of pipes and cables without the risk of damage. minimal
environmental impact and less disruptive to sunounding ecos) stems, precision cxcavating around
utilities. helps to prevent sen'ice intemrption, and it is in compliance with state law-. He said that
the truck being 17 years old and not built lbr hydro-excavating. it is shoning its age, and the
maintenance costs are growing substantially each year. Mr. Poelstra mentioned that they solicited
Sourcewell quote for a Ramvac HX 12 Kenworth Hydro-excavation truck from Solid waste
Systems in the amount of $616,963.33. He added that the Sourcervell quotes are based on a
competitive solicitation process and offered to members. He stated that Sourcewell has previously
been approved by Council for such purchases, as required by ldaho Code $ 67-2807. and the hydro-
excavation truck n'as included in the 2023-24 FY budget with a capital line item of $700,000. Mr.
Poelstra pointed out that the hydro-excavation truck takes approximately 1 vear from time oforder
to delivery. n'hich would require this budget line item to be carried over into the FY budg et 2024-
25.

DISCUSSION: Mayor Hammond asked if they inject nater to soften the soil and if they bring
something else for backfill. w'ith Mr. Poelstra explaining that it is like a long digging wand i.vith a
nozzle that rotates with high pressure 2000 PSI vr'ater that thel-'stick to the ground to loosen it up.
IIe added that they have a location to dump the material. Councilmember Wood inquired on the
lifespan ofthe truck, and Mr. Poelstra stated that the)' expect the truck to last betneen I 5-20 1,ears.
Councilmember McEvers asked how many repairs they do per year. w-ith Mr. Poelstra replying
that the-v schedule 100 replacement services. He said that thev typicalll' encounter anywhere from
20 to 25 leaks in those pipes and then anynhere fiom 150 to 200 other services that the1, work on
throughout the year. He added that the Ramvac HXl2 Kennorth Hydro-excavation truck has a
heating unit that would allow them to use it through.,vinter ifneeded.

MOTION: Motion by McEvers" seconded by English. to approve Resolution No. 2;l-048 -
Approval of a contract with SWS Equipment. LLC, for a Ramvac HXl2 Truck Mounted }Iydro
Excavator in the amount $616.963.33.

Council Minutes June 18. 2024. Page 7

RESOI-UIION NO.24.048



ROLLCALL: Woocl Ay'e: EvansAle: MillerAle: McEversAvc: Cicxrkin A,1,e: English A.ve.
Motion carried.

RF]SOLUTION NO.24-U9

A RESOLUTION OF I'HE CITY OF COEI,]R D'ALENE. KOOI'ENAI COI.INI-Y. IDAHO.
ADOPTING A TEMPORARY MORATORITJM ON DEMOLITION AND MOVING PERMITS.
AND BUILDING PERMITS FOR SIGNIFICANI' EXTERIOR ALTERATIONS. FOR
BUILDINGS. EXCLUDING RESIDENTIAL BT]ILDINGS. t-OCATED IN I'HE DOWNTOWN
CORE ZONING DISTRICT. AND THE DOWNTOWN OVERLAY. NORTHSIDE. AND
DO\INTOWN OVERLAY. EASTSIDE" DIST'RICTS. AND BUILDINGS t-IS]'ED ON THE
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES.

STAFF REPORT: Communin Planning Director Hilary Patterson presented the draft Resolution
regarding imposing a temporan' moratorium on the issuance of demolition and moving perrnirs.
and building permits fbr significant exterior alterations. fbr buildings. excluding residential.
located in the Doq'ntown Core Zoning District. Dountor.r'n overlay Northside. and Downtor,n
Overlal Eastside. and buildings listed on the National Register of Historic Places. to wit: Coeur
d'Alene Citl'Hall: Coeur d'Alene Federal Building: Coeur d'Alene Masonic Temple: Davev.
Harvel'M. House: First United Methodist Church: Fort Sherman Buildings: Inland Empire Electric
Railu-a1' Substation: Kootenai Countl Courthouse: Roosevelt School: St. Thomas Catholic
Church: and Hamilton House. She stated that the intention is to protect historic resources and
allor'r time to conduct planning activities alloned b1 the Idaho code. If approved. she said that
the moratorium uould be for 182 da1's t'rom its efttctive date. In addition to residential structures.
Ms. Patterson enumerated the exclusions which include outbuildings (garages). dangerous
buildings. buildings that are less than 50 1'ears ofage. residential structures. interior demolitions.
and historic districts such as Fort Grounds and Carden District. She mentioned that ldaho Code
$s\67-6523 and 67 -6524 authorize the Cit)' to impose a moratorium on the issuance of selected
classes olpermits r.r'hen Council finds that an imminent peril to the public health. safet1,. or welf-are
exists u'hich requires the imposition of such a moratorium. She added thar Idaho Code 1167-4601
also recognizes the importance ol historic. archaeological and cultural heritage ol the state. and
provides for a comprehensive program of historic preserv'ation. Ms. Patterson provided the
justification for the proposed resolution as what was explained bl walter Burns. chairman of
Historic Preservation Commission. and John Swallou'who ou'ns historic properties. that there is
a need to put a pause on the demolitions for the Comntission and staffto be able to catch up and
evaluate what has been going on and respond to council's request to work on some of these
important things at the downtown core in terms olzoning code and what is allowed by right and
design guidelines. She mentioned that the City has heen awarded with a granl tund through the
State Preservation Office to conduct a reconnaissance survey ofthe downtown area to identi|, and
evaluale hisloric resources. She stated that demolition permits hare no rer ieu. hisroric propenies
are at risk and there is public outcry to save them. other communities in ldaho have done a similar
moratorium. and the etfect on public mental health is also a point of consideration. Ms. Patterson
said that there is a working group and Councilmember Gookin is a member. and they are evaluating
the zoning districts on what is allowed by right in the downtown core as well as in the two infill

Council Minutes June I tl. 2024. I)agc ll



districts. She requested the Council to adopt the imposition ofa temporary moratorium for 182
days pursuant to Idaho Code.

DISCUSSION: Councilmember Mc[]vers asked what triggered this recommendation. rvith Ms.
Pattcrson stating that the case of the Roosevelt triggered this response lrom the community
members to request for a moratorium. She pointed out that the moratorium is only lor 182 days.
C'ouncilmember McEvers expressed that while he appreciates the historical importance, he is
l.raving a hard time knowing that property owners would have to wait about six months.
Councilmember Gookin inquired why residential buildings are excluded fiom the moratorium. and
Ms. Patterson explained that the thought was just the number of residential buildings and the
thought that City Council and some of the residents might be more concemed if it nas limiting
residential because there is a lot more happening u'ith residential permits than commercial permits.
She added that the nature of the zoning code rvith development standards and design guidelines.
the majoritl' of those are commercial. She mentioned that residential can be added.
Councilmember Gookin asked if someone's home bumed doun. can thel- rebuild on it given the
moratorium, with Ms. Patterson reply ing in the affirmati'"'e. Councilmember Gookin asked details
on the number ol days, and Mr. Adams replied that it would be 182 sequential days.
councilmember Miller explained that the 182 davs moratorium is an avenue to come up with a
plan on demolition permits and provide time to build awareness to residents that have a potential
hisloric home and provide ideas in fiont ofthem to help preserve that.

MOTION: Motion by Miller. seconded by Evans. to approve Resolution No.2:l-0,19 Approval
of a Temporary Moratorium on demolition and moving permits and building permits for significant
exterior alterations. for buildings. excluding residential. located in lhe Downtown Core Zoning
District. and Dor,l'ntoun overla1". Northside. and Dountoun olerlar'. Eastside District. and
buildings listed on National Historic Register.

DISCUSSION: Councilmember Gookin asked the Council if thel' would be interested to add
residential buildings to the list. Councilmember Miller stated that she does not have a problem
including residential; however, she noted that the Commission is concemed about the timeframe
and no available information on who will be affected. Mayor Hammond pointed out that there are
also 50-year-old homes but not necessaril) ofhistorical significance and if somebody would want
to come in and build a neu'home. thev would be stuck lbr 182 days and be affected on i.vhat w,ill
come out olthe redeveloped ordinance. Councilmember Miller shared that there was a discussion
in the Commission about idenrilfing older historic homes ro be added to the list. but thel' figured
that it r.,'.ill be too time consuming and arbitran to get though.

ROLL CALL: Er,ans A]'e: Miller A1.e: McEvers No: Gookin Aye: English Aye: Wood A1,e.
Motion carried.

Council Minutes June I 8. 2024. Page 9



RESOLUTION NO.24.O5O

A RESOLT-ITION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE. KOOTENAI COUNTY. IDAHO.
DECLARING. PURUSANT TO IDAHO CODE .S 67-2808(I). THAT AN EMERGENCY
EXISTS AS A RESULT OF AN EXTRAORDINARY FIRE WHICH DEMANDS TT{E
IMMEDIATE EXPENDITURE OF PUBLIC MONEY IN THE PUBLIC INTERESTAND
NECESSITY WITHOUT COMPLIANCE WITH FORMAI- BIDDING PROCEDURES.

STAFF REPORT: Police Chief Lee White noted that an extraordinary fire occurred at the Police
Department on Sunday, Jute 9,2024 and razed the IT building that served as a workspace lbr
code Enibroement, Animal control. volunteers. and Police Department (PD) Information
Technology personnel. He added that vehicles and equipment for the (traffic) motor program. K9
program. SWAT. bike and downtown patrol. cro\\,.d control. and other specialty units were
damaged or destroyed in the fire. He mentioned that nearly all their lT-retated equipment such as
laptops. desktops. cables. and other hardvnare. \\'as also lost in the fire. Chief White stated that the
State Fire Marshall is taking the lead in the investigation and that the fire appears to be accidental
caused b) catastrophic failure of lithium-ion battery on one oftheir e-bikes. Chief White explained
that he is not requesting lbr additional funding but he is asking Council for the declaration of an
emergencv in order to circumvent the lengthl purchasing process so the]-can replace the critical
equipment that were lost from the t'ire.

DISCTISSION: Councilmember Wood requested claritlcation ilPD is applying tbr t-ederal funds.
with ChielWhite replying that they are not. He stated that the funding discussions woutd probably
take place at a later date once they detemrine the amount that the insurance company, lCRMp.
would cover. councilmember Miller inquired about having a priority strategic plan on what
equipment they intend to replace tirst and how it will be r,",hen ICRMP is unable to cover the enrire
cost ol full replacement. Chief white explained that they are currently on the process of
identifying details of what was lost in the fire and the scope is huge which basically everything
associated with their canine unit. all oftheir specialty units including SWAT equipment. bicycle
team. motorc\cle team. and their entire IT department. councilmember Gookin asked wh1' the
building has no sprinklers. and Chief White pointed out that when the building u,as bought in 201 6.
it $as not a requirement in code since it uas predominantl) a storage building',vith onl1.a small
area fbr otllce space. He added that ther also don't have the extra funding ol$15.000 at rhat rimc
fbr the sprinklers. Councilmember \*bod inquired about horv thev are doing their invenron to
ligure our rhat u'as lost. Chief White stated that Lt. Bill Tilson has been doing a phenomenal .ioh
in leading the inventon' process from grabbing invoices fiom Springbook and looking through
information from databases. Councilmember wood applaucl the cooperative spirit among the
departments in helping the PD to get equipment and be able to function again.

MorloN: Motion by wood. seconded by Gookin. to approve Resolution No. 2.1-050 - Approval
ol a Declaration of Emergency, pursuant to ldaho code s 67-2808(l). as a resuli of an
extraordinary events which demands the immediate expenditure of public monev in the public
inlerest and necessity r-ithout compliance u,ith tbrmal bidding procedures.

ROLL CALL: Miller Aye; McEvers Ay'e: Gookin Aye: English A_,-e: Woo<i Aye: Er,,ans Aye
Motion carried.

Council Minutes June 18. 2024 Page l0



COUNCIL BILL NO. 24.IOO8

AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE AMENDMENT OF I'HE FOT,LOWING SECTIONS
OF THE COEUR D'ALENE MUNICIPAL CODE: 5.32.010. 5.32.020. 5.32.050. 5.32.060.
5.32.80. AND 5.32.090 PERTAINING TO SECT-IRITY ACENC]IES AND AGENTS:
PROVIDINC FOR THE REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES: PROVIDING FOR
SEVERABILITY: PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF A SUMMARY OF THE
ORDINANCE: AND PROVIDINC FOR AN EFF.ECTIVE DA.TE THEREOF.

STAFF REPORT: Police Chief Lee White requesred the Council ro approve amendment to
Chapter 5.32 ol the Coeur d'Alene Municipal Code entitled "Securiry Agencies and Agents" to
help the.public more easily identi! securitl, company employees and help distinguish them tiom
law enforcement personnel. He explained that the Municipal Sen'ices Department issues licenses
for Security Agents under Municipal Code Chapter 5.32 uhich provides fbr the Police Chief to
regulate uniforms. badges. and vehicles. He stated that currently. the cit1, has l4 firms and 37
individuals licensed and the)'must go through a fingerprint-based background check up licensure.
He mentioned that the Police Department has received several complaints regarding employees of
securit)' agencies dressing in unifbrms similar to local lan entbrcement agencies. being
investigated and/or charged u,ith crimes. and in some cases. behaving in a manner that ma),be
vieu'ed as impersonating a peace o1ficer. Chief White recalled that the section of Municipal Code
addressing securitl' agencies was last revised in 2009 and needs updating. He pointed out that the
recommended changes would provide specific requirements tbr unitbrms and l'ehicles to disallou'
them from looking similar to local larl entbrcement unifbrms and vehicles. and both must be
clearll marked with the rvord "Securitl'' to ensure the distinction. Chief White explained that the
specific changes in the code. include an annual background check. specific language lor unilorms
and vehicles. training and unitbrmsh'ehicles shall be checked every three )ears b). the Chief of
Police. He said that he had spoken with the leadership lrom Kootenai Count_v', Sheriff's Office and
they support the proposed amendments. Chief White addressed the concems mentioned during
the Public Comment period stating the fbllouing: there is nothing in the ordinance that would
prohibit the securitl agents tiom acting as an\ pri\ate citizen will do citizen's arrest: the 2009
ordinance requires that all the vehicles have the \4ord "securitl agent" \rritten on their vehicles but
the proposed amendment only requires the uord -securit)," that needs to be written in legible botd
letters that is 4 inches tall; and the comment period fbr the proposed amendments started back in
March when the infbrmation was shared to concerned companies tbr inputs.

DISCUSSION: Councilmember Evans requested clarification on what was mentioned during
Public Comment about making available copies ol the contract and some minimal changes on
infbrmation on Section 6, with Chief White explaining that the reason is if someone is purponing
themselves as a security ofllcer. PD would have the ability to look at the database ol Municipal
Senices and ensure that rhey are dul)' licensed in the city. He added that the only change in
Section 6 is removing place olresidence. removing complete and accurate description and history
of record. and then adding date oibirth. Councilmember Wood mentioned that she doesn't have
any concems with the changes in the ordinance. She stated that while the private security
companies have a role and do a lot olgood tbr the private industry. the premiere law enfbrcement
in the City is the Coeur d'Alene Police Department. Councilmember Gookin asked ilthere was
an opportunity fbr the PD to meet with the security agencies. Chief White shared that he met with

Council Minutes June I 8" 2024. Page I I



representatives ofLear and Gates early spring. He said that he also nret with Northem States. and
they fully support whatever changes that would be implenrented. Councilmember McEvers asked
if this ordinance u'ill also apply in Post Falls and Rathdrum. with Chief White clariSing that this
is just a Cit-v Ordinance. but he also spoke with the Sherilf's Department. and they also don't like
the idea that they might be conf'used with security agents. Councilmember Miller inquired on the
number of security agencies, and ChielWhite pointed out that there is only l4 in the City database
that are licensed to perlbrm security type activities. He mentioned that Allied [Jniversal has not
1'et started doing unilorm security activitv in the area. but he spoke u,ith them and they have no
problems with the ordinance. Councilmember Miller requesled lbr lurther explanation about the
assertion that Section 5 ofthe ordinance violates the Idaho statute regarding citizen's arrest" with
Mr. Adams explaining that Section 5 doesn'I even use the uord "arrest." and it is intended to
require notification olpolice when a security'agent is aware ila crime. hence it has nothing to do
rvith r'"hether they can perform a citizen's arrest or not.

MOTION: Motion bl Miller. seconded b1' McEvers. ro dispense with the rule and read Council
Bill No. 2{-1008 once bv litle onh..

ROLL CALL: lvlcEr ers Ave: Gookin Ar e: English A1 c: \\bod A1 e: [._r ans A1e: Miller Ar e.
Motion carried.

MOTION: Motion b1' Miller. seconded by English. to adopr Council Bill No.2{-1008.

DISCUSSION: councilmember Gookin srated that he is opposed ro the proposed amendments
saf ing that it is a lot of governmental or"erreach and the eristing rules are fine. He recalled rn'hat
u'as mentioned in the Public Comment that an agencl mar need to redo its fleet which will cause
excessive expense. He stated that he uould like to see the Cit) to be more business friendll'.
Councilmember Wood stated that she is in support of thc' proposed amendments because it has
been caretully' crafted to make sure that the agencies n'ill srill be successlul in their business. She
pointed out that it is not safe. and it is conceming to hale other agencies that are not certilied
professional law enfbrcement to look like taw enfbrcement. She clarifled that the proposed
amendments were not crafted in panicular by Chief White. but the Citl relies on him for input and
real time observation aboul what is happening and how it impacts the public.

ROLL CALL: McE'ers 41e: Gookin No: Enslish Ale: Wbod Aye 41e: E'ans A1.e: Miller .A1e
Motion carried.

RESOLUTION NO. ]4.05I

A RESOLLITION OF THE CITY OF' COEUR D'ALENE. KOOTENAI COLINTY. IDAHO"
APPROVING THE SOLE SOURCE PROCLJREMENT OF A SPEED ALPR (ALITOMATIC
LICENSE PLATE READER) TRAILER FROM VIGILAN'| SOLIJTIONS. t-LC. TJSING
GRANT FUNDING THROUGH THE 2023 STATE HOMEI,AND SECI]RITY PROGRAM
(SHSP) FOR THE POLICE DEPARTMENT.

Council Minutes June I 8. 2024. Page 12



STAFF REPORT: Police Chiel Lee White requested the Council to approve the sole source
procurement of a speed ALPR (Automatic License Plate Reader) trailer from Motorola Vigilant
using a grant through the 202i state Homeland Securit-v Program (SHSP) which w-as anarded to
the coeur d'Alene Police Department, sub-awarded by Kootenai county and administered by the
Office olEmergency Management (OEM). He explained that the nay the grant r.r,orks is the OEM
actually purchases the equipment but since the PD is the entiry'that will control and acquire the
equipment, it needs to comply w,ith the purchasing policy. He stated that they are requesting to
use a specific company because it is compatible with their existing system. hence they are
requesting a sole source for this purchase. He added that this might be their only mobile ALpR
trailer which would be a regional asset. He stressed that there are no City lunds that will be used
in this purchase.

DISCUSSION: Councilmember Gookin asked if this is a speed camera and would be giring out
tickets. uith Chief White erplaining that this equipment is a speed feedback and reads Iicense plate
number so they can identily rvhether it's a stolen vehicle. missing people. or murder suspects
travelling through, but it does not give out tickets. councilmember McEvers inquired on the
calneras in the trailer. and ChielWhite stated that it is a trailer u,ith a speed feedback and a camera
that can move around. He added that the speed feedback will help the people to slow down but at
the same time. the PD will be alerted if the stolen vehicle happens to go by or there is a murder
suspect that is passing through. Councilmember wood commented that nhen she was working at
the PD, this is the most requested equipment because ol speeding concems in the neighborhood
and this slor.i,.people dow-n when they can see immediate t-eedback on their speed.

MOTION: Motion by Wood, seconded by English. to approve Resolution No.2,l-051 Approval
of the sole source purchase ofALPR traileq using grant funds from a State Homeland Security
Program grant, sub-awarded by Kootenai County and administered by the Office ol Emergency
Management (OEM). in the amount ol$68.715.00.

ROLL CALL: Gookin Aye: English Aye; Wood Aye: Evans Aye: Miller Aye; McEvers Aye
Motion carried.

COI]NCIL BILL NO. 24-IOO9

AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE AMENDMENT OF SECTIONS 15.50.210"
1s.50.400(c). 15.50.410(H). PERTAINING TO BILLBOARDS, AND 15.50.400(D)
PERTAINING TO ELECI'RONIC MESSAGE DISPI.,AYS OF THE COEUR D'ALENE
MUNICIPAL CODE; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF CONFLICT]NG ORDNANCES:
PROVIDINC FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDINC} FOR THE PUBLICATION oF A
SUMMARY OF THE ORDINANCE: AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE
THEREOF.

srAFF REPORT: communiqv Planning Director Hilary patterson noted that during the
December 19.2023 Council meeting. the Council requested staffto revisit the amendments to the
sign code and provide wals to allow movement of existing billboards within the city limits. She
explained that as the Code is currently written, no new billboards are allowed. and existing
billboards cannot be moved to a dil}'erent location but must "remain in place.,' she pointed out

Council Minutes June 18. 2024. Page l -3



that constitutionality \.\,'as a big issue when the last amendment was made on the sign code. and it
was change so the city is not regulating content. Ms. Patterson explained the lollowing
considerations in looking at amendments to the sign code: they cannot obstruct views. distract
motorists, displace altemative uses tbr land. and afl'ect the aesthetics of a community. She stated
that the City finds and declares that it is necessarv to regulate the construction. erection.
maintenance. electrification. illumination. type. size. number. and locations of signs in order to
protect the health. saflety, r.r'elfare. the orderly appearance ofthe city. provide for inlormation needs
of the public. among others. She explained that in the March I . 2022 code Amendments. one ol
those that was changed was to remove the statement "the billboard may not be enlarged.
structurally altered. or moved to a difl-erent location. Billboards must be maintained as required
by this Chapter" which caused some contusion that is rvhl Lamar brought fbrward the request to
the Citr Council to change this as they were under the impression that billboards could be moved
within the City although there was a section in the Code that still says the) must remain in place.
other provisions that *ere removed include the statements: "A Billboard located on properry-
annexed into the City must be remol'ed within 60 days of the efJectir,e date of the annexation;"
and "lf a Billboard is damaged by an1- cause such that the cost of repair exceeds 50% ofthe fair
market value of the Billboard prior to the damage. the Billboard ma),not be repaired but must be
removed."

Ms. Sefters erplained that the total sign allouance is calculated bl multiphing the street f'rontage
ofa parcel by three. She stated that the freestanding allou'ance is calculated bl multiplling the
streel frontage measurement by the driving lane factors. then b_,- the densitl'factor. then adding in
the sign area factor. She added that in the C- l 7 zone. rhe maximum is 100sq.ft.

Ms. Patterson shared that the proposed code amendments rere presented to the General Services/
Public works committee. and thel'also met \!ith the t$o outdoor sign companies. Lamar and
Yesco. as uell as sent out the proposed code amendments to other sign companies. She stated that
staff revieued codes from several cities including Post Falls. Halden. Meridian. Idaho Fatls.
Pocatello. Spokane. Spokane Valley. Twin Falls. Bend oR. Missoula MT. Boise. Nampa. caldw.ell.
and Eagle. as well as the Montana Department of I'ransportation. and ldaho Transportation
Department and found out that most cities did not allow fbr new billboards. and a few provided
for their movement within certain parameters. As such. Ms. Patterson enumerated hightights of
the proposed code. to wit: provides fbr a definition ol Billboard: provides fbr the removal of
existing non-confbrming billboards in exchange fbr a new location: to be relocated within a
Commercial. Manufacturing. or Light Manufbcturing zone: blends with existing codes (Planning
and Zoning setbacks. heights. separation between signs. underground electrical): requires a publii
hearing befbre the Cit-v Council and provides fbr emergencv alerts/ouner contact information.
She mentioned that the proposed ordinance would have additional setbacks of 500 fl. fiom
residential zones. schools. churches. parks, cemeteries. and historic districts. She added that there
are currently eight billboards within the City. Ms. Patterson further explained that the code for
electronic signs should be amended due to the complaints about night brightness: research from
other cities netted better ways to measure light. mol,ing fiom nits to tbot candles; required
technology lor auto diming: hold displays lbr 8 seconds versus 2 seconds; and restricts video
messages on electronic message displays. She said that currently there are 83 electronic signs in
the city. Ms. Patterson stated that the proposed amendments include clarification that distraction
includes motorists. pedestrians. and general public: require technology fbr auto dimming:

Council Minutes June 18. 2024 Page I zl



brightness shall not exceed 0.3-fbot candles (above ambient conditions). with appropriate
measurement distances; messages to be held a minimum of 8 seconds; clarification that no videos
are allowed; and consistent with best practices. She stated the suggestions discussed during the
May 28. 2024 GS/PW Subcommittee meeting: reconsider the need to review. the Land Lease;
clari! proposed foot candle measurement is above ambient lighting; clarili rotating signs are signs
that turr/spin: clarill' sign content that cannot be regulated. fbr example. legal cannabis sales in
WA: determine if public hearing should be required: determine ilunderground electrical should be
required: include transitions should be % second or less: include lighting to be dou,nu,ard tacing
on non-digital billboards: and mobile billboards.

DISCUSSION: Councilmember Wood stated that her husband u.orks tbr a sign company. but he
is not in a position to determine where a billboard will be located. hence she does not have a
conf'lict of inlerest. She suggested that the billboard code amendments can be written in the same
rvav as the pedal pub tvhere there uould be public comment instead of a public hearing.
Councilmember Evans asked Ms. Patterson to revieu their uork u'ith the sign companies because
the Council received an email from Lamar lbu days prior to the Council meeting uith significant
suggested changes. Ms. Patterson stated that staff prel'iousll met with the sign companies and
heard their concems. She added that the)' rvere also present in the subcommiltee meetings to
provide comments. Councilmember English said that he '"vanted to keep the public hearing.
Councilmember Wood asked the details olthe email from Lamar. q'ith Mr. Adams explaining rhat
the concern is about the height of the billboard uhich is 50fi. tiom rhe bottom ofthe sign. Ms.
Patterson shared that in the draft proposal. rhe maximum height r.rould be 48fi. She added that
aside tiom the height. the signilicant changes that [-amar suggested include removal of zoning
restrictions. no public hearine. thel did not want to limit the size. and intersections setback.
Councilmember Wood stated that the sign companies sene local businesses. and the Council has
the role to support economic development. She urges council to llnd a common ground to u'ork
u'ith the sign companies that u'ould still uork fbr the Citl: houer,er. she pointed out that if the
proposals are not acceptable. she asked Council to move tbrward. councilmember Miller
mentioned that she agrees rvith supporting the local business. She also explained that the sign
companies were involved during the preparation ol the code amendments: honeler. they would
suggest dramatic changes that should have been brought up earlier. She added that she is in support
of the public hearing. Councilmember Wood pointed out that there are more requirements from
the business w-hen they' are required to go through public hearing. Ms. Patterson stated that the
business r.r'ill do the application. the)'pa) for the title repo( and mailing labels. then the City will
send out notifications for a public hearing. Councilmember English stated that he has enough
information to make a decision. Councilmember Evans stated that she is in support of the proposed
amendments: however, she is not in support ofthe movement olbillboards because this will make
a big impact on how the city looks moving forward. She said that she likes the public hearing as
it provides fbr transparencv in the process. Councilmember Gookin pointed out that there are a
lot in the proposed code amendment that requires businesses to do what they already do. hence
can be stricken out. He said that he is does not agree with the public hearing.

MorIoN: Motion by Gookin. seconded by wood. to dispense with the rule and read council
Bill No. 24-1009 once by title only.

Council Minutes June I 8. 2024. I)agc l-5



ROLL CALL:
Motion carried.

English A1e: \\bod Are: Evans A1e: Miller A1'e: McEvers ,A1e: Gookin ,A1e.

MOTION: Motion by Gookin. seconded b1-Wood. to adopt Council Bitl No.2{-1009.

DISCUSSION: Councilmember Gookin stated that the Council supports the local business and
*ith this ordinance they are allowed to move the billboards. He asked the sign companies to u.ork
with the City to fine tune the code.

ROLL CALL: English Aye: Wood Aye: Evans No: Miller A1-e: McEvers No: Gookin Aye
Motion carried.

RECESS: Motion by Gookin. seconded by Wood to recess to June 24. 2024. at l2:00 Noon in
the Library Community Room. located at 702 E. Front Avenue for a workshop regarding Fiscal
Year 2024-2025 Budget. Motion carried.

The meeting adjoumed at 8:32 p.m.

ES M or

ATTEST:

\ I alcsk i

ecutive Assistant

Council Minutcs .lune 18. 2024. Page 16


